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“64

(1)

)

Independent Commission Against Corruption Act 1988

The functions of the Joint Committee are as follows:

(@
(b)

(©)

(@)

(e)

to monitor and to review the exercise by the Commission of its functions;

to report to both Houses of Parliament, with such comments as it thinks
fit, on any matter appertaining to the Commission or connected with the
exercise of its functions to which, in the opinion of the Joint Committee,
the attention of Parliament should be directed;

to examine each annual and other report of the Commission and report to
both Houses of Parliament on any matter appearing in, or arising out of]
any such report;

to examine trends and changes in corrupt conduct, and practices and
methods relating to corrupt conduct, and report to both Houses of
Parliament any change which the Joint Committee thinks desirable to the
functions, structures and procedures of the Commission;

to inquire into any question in connection with its functions which is
referred to it by both Houses of Parliament, and report to both Houses on
that question.

Nothing in this Part authorises the Joint Committee -

@
(b)

©

to investigate a matter relating to particular conduct; or

to reconsider a decision to investigate, not to investigate or to discontinue
investigation of a particular complaint; or

~ to reconsider the findings, recommendations, determinations or other

decisions of the Commission in relation to a particular investigation or
complaint.”



Committee on the ICAC

1. INVESTIGATIONS

(Note: Unless otherwise indicated, time frames in questions refer to the time between the last
general meeting, namely 28 November 1997, and 1 June 1998, inclusive.)

1.1 How many matters have been received by the Commission and what categories do
they fall under?

In the period 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998 924 matters have been received by the
Commission. This can be compared with 810 matters for the equivalent period in 1996/97,
an increase of 14%.

Classification 1997/98 28 Nov 97 - 1 June 98
(as at 1 June 1998)

Complaints (s.10) 718 386

Protected Disclosures 214 105

s.11 Reports 467 273

Information 126 78

Inquiry 26 12

Dissemination 11 2

Referral from Parliament Nil Nil

Outside Jurisdiction 94 64

Own Initiative (s.20) 4 4

Total 1660 924

Category 1997/98 28 Nov 97 - 1 June 98
(as at 1 June 1998)

Preliminary Investigation 74 62

Closure (Outside Jurisdiction) 84 61

Initial Enquiry 347 195

Immediate Closure 1055 606

Total 1660 924

The figures above are represented in the graphs in Appendix A.

Public sector agencies may apply to the Commission to report instances of suspected
corrupt conduct of a minor nature by way of a monthly or quarterly schedule. Such
reporting is monitored by Commission liaison officers. The Commission presently receives
schedule reports from over 30 agencies.
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1.2

1.3

Committee on the ICAC

The schedules are circulated to designated Commission officers who may request further
details about particular matters from the relevant department/agency. Following receipt
of these details, the matter is registered and assessed in accordance with the usual protocols

of the Commission.

Which public authorities are most frequently the subject of complaint?

The table below provides the percentage of matters received by the Commission between
28 November 1997 and 1 June 1998 where the listed public authorities were the subject

of the complaint.

Public authority

Local Government*

Corrective Services

Community Services

NSW Police Servicel

Area Health Services

School Education/Education and Training
State Rail/Railway Services/State Transit
Aboriginal Land Councilsk

Sub total
Other public authorities

Total

All
Classifications**

27%
11%
7.5%
4%
3%
3%
2.5%
2.5%

60.5%

39.5%

100%

* "Local government" comprises 177 councils throughout NSW.
Police corruption ceased to be within the jurisdiction of ICAC from 1 January 1997.
4 Includes 117 Local Aboriginal Land Councils and the NSW ALC.

** includes protected disclosures

Protected
Disclosures

21.5%
9.5%
1%
Nil
3%
9.5%
4.75%
4.75%

54%

46%

100%

Have there been any significant changes in the number, type or subject of complaint?
As the graphs in Appendix B show there have been no significant changes in the number
or type of complaints received by the Commission.

The table below shows the percentage distribution of matters based on their classification,
and is based on the figures provided in the graph found at Appendix B.
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Percentage Distribution of Matters based on their Classification

1993-94 1994-95 1995-96 1996-97 1997-98

(asat 1 June

1998)
s.10 Complaint 49.25% 52.80% 52.70% 46.70% 43.25%
Dissemination 0.85% 0.44% 0.35% 0.35% 0.65%
Information 11.25% 5.40% 5.50% 8.15% 7.60%
Inquiry 2.25% 1.90% 2.05% 1.90% 1.55%
Outside Jurisdiction 10.70% 7.89% 4.65% 4.55% 5.65%
Own Initiative 0.30% 0.07% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25%
Protected Disclosuret 0% 3.45% 11.65% 12.15% 12.50%
Referral (s.13) 0.15% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Report (s.11) 25.25% 28.05% 22.85% 25.95% 28.15%

4 Protected Disclosures classification was introduced in March 1995.

The Commission has experienced an increase in the number of matters where the
Department of Corrective Services is the subject of the complaint. This is most probably
due to the Commission's ongoing investigation into the Department, the public hearings
and the resulting publicity.

Matters involving local councils continue to represent a high proportion of matters
received.

On what percentage of matters received are preliminary investigations undertaken?
Where further information is required before the complaint can be determined the matter
is referred for initial enquiry. Of the 924 matters, 195 (21%) required initial enquiries to
be made. Of the 924 matters received by the Commission between 28 November 1997 and
1 June 1998, 62 matters (7%) were referred for preliminary investigation.

On what percentage of matters received are full investigations undertaken?

The number of matters which proceed to a formal scope and purpose investigation are a
small percentage of the total number of matters received by the Commission.

Collation of Evidence ¢ 7/9 July 1998 # page 7



1.6
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During the period from 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998 two formal scope and purpose
investigations were initiated.

As the statistics above show, 62 of the 924 matters received were referred for preliminary
investigation. Of these, 46 (4.9% of 924) were incorporated into existing formal scope and
purpose investigations (not necessarily created during this period).

The distribution of the 46 matters are as follows:

Classification Number Percentage of Total Matters
Received by the Commission

Complaints (s.10) 24 2.6%
Protected Disclosures 5 0.5%
s.11 Reports 12 1.3%
Information 3 0.3%
Inquiry Nil Nil

Dissemination 1 0.1%
Referral from Parliament Nil Nil

Outside Jurisdiction Nil Nil

Own Initiative (s.20) 1 0.1%
Total 46 4.9%

The above figures do not capture all of the complaints that are referred to an investigation
team dealing with a major investigation. For example, in Operation Cadix all complaints
received covering Corrective Services were initially sent to the team. The decision may be
made by the team to recommend closure of the complaint file but may nevertheless deal
with the issue raised as part of the formal investigation. There have been 108 complaints
received in the period from 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998 concerning Corrective
Services.

What percentage of matters received are declined to be investigated?

Of the 863 matters received between 28 November 1997 and 1 June 1998, which were
within the Commission's jurisdiction, 606 matters (70%) were categorised for immediate
closure.

The other matters were the subject of initial enquiries or preliminary investigation or
became a formal scope and purpose investigation.

Collation of Evidence ¢ 7/9 July 1998 # page 8



1.7

1.8

1.9

Committee on the ICAC

What percentage of matters received are outside of the Commission's jurisdiction?

Of the 924 matters received by the Commission between 28 November 1997 and 1 June
1998, 61 matters (7%) were categorised as outside jurisdiction.

What percentage of matters are referred to other authorities for investigation or
other action? To which authorities are matters most commonly referred?

In respect of section 10 complaints, including protected disclosures, of the 450 matters
considered by the Operations Review Committee during the period from 28 November
1997 to 1 June 1998, 198 (44%) were recommended for referral to another agency.

Of these, 34 were referred pursuant to sections 53 and 54 of the ICAC Act, 164 for
information.

The matters referred pursuant to section 53 and 54 of the ICAC Act require an
investigation to be undertaken by the agency and a report to be submitted to the
Commission on completion of that investigation.

The table below list the public authorities to whom matters are most frequently referred.
Public authority

Department of Local Government
Department of Community Services
Department of Corrective Services
NSW Aboriginal Land Council
Department of Housing
Department of Health

Ombudsman

NSW Police Service

Department of Education and Training
State Rail Authority

Individual Local Councils

What percentage of complaints result in findings of corruption?

It is rare that a complaint becomes a formal scope and purpose investigation of itself.
Where the Commission undertakes a formal investigation it may consist of numerous
individual complaints. The Commission does not make a finding of corrupt conduct in
respect of the individual complaints, but rather as a result of investigative work
encompassing many issues.
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Committee on the ICAC

1.10 'What investigations have involved public hearings and how many days of public

hearings have there been?

In the period 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998 public hearings have been conducted in
relation to Operations Becker, Becker E, Cadix and Zack. The number of days of public
hearings are:

Operation Public
Becker — Langton 4
Becker_E — Gibson 16
Cadix — Corrective Services 16
Zack — Aboriginal Land Councils 2
Total 38

Protected Disclosures

1.11

1.12

How many protected disclosures have been received?

During the period from 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998 the Commission received 105
protected disclosures.

What public authorities have been the subject of protected disclosures?

The public authorities which have been the subject of a protected disclosure during the
period from 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998 are listed below:

Public authority

Local Government*

Corrective Services

Aboriginal Land Councils**

Ambulance Service

Department of Fair Trading

Department of Housing

Community Services

State Rail/Railway Services/State Transit
Roads and Traffic Authority

Area Health Services

School Education/Education and Training
Workcover Authority

* "Local government” comprises 177 councils throughout NSW.
** Includes 117 Local Aboriginal Land Councils and the NSW ALC.
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Committee on the ICAC

1.13  Has there been any change in the number of protected disclosures received?

1.14

The number of protected disclosures received as a percentage of the total number of
matters received by the Commission is increasing slightly each year.

1993-94 1994-95 1995-96 1996-97 1997-98

(asat 1 June
1998)

Protected Disclosuret 0% 3.45% 11.65% 12.15% 12.90%

} Protected Disclosures Act commenced from 1 March 1995.

What percentage of protected disclosures are declined, and what are the reasons that

they are declined?

Of the 105 protected disclosures received during 28 November 1997 to 1 June 1998, 58

(55%) were categorised for immediate closure. The reasons given for these decisions are

listed below.

Matters, including protected disclosures, are not investigated because they are considered:

o not to indicate a reasonable likelihood of involving significant corrupt conduct nor
provide an opportunity to the Commission to advise on relevant systemic or
preventative issues;

. to be too old, trivial or frivolous;

. to be more appropriately dealt with by another agency given the role, functions,
resources and jurisdiction of that other agency;

. likely to be a complaint or management issue of a type which should be the
responsibility of the agency complained of to deal with;

. the subject of an enquiry commenced by another agency;
. to lack specificity and thus unable to be sensibly pursued.
. to reasonably be suspected of being vexatious or not made in good faith and lacking

in substance or information;

. to involve the same public sector area or type of conduct that has been dealt with
in other Commission formal investigations and projects.
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What percentage of protected disclosures result in findings of corrupt conduct?

It 1s rare that a protected disclosure complaint becomes a formal scope and purpose
investigation of itself. Where the Commission undertakes a formal investigation it may
consist of numerous individual complaints. The Commission does not make a finding of
corrupt conduct in respect of the individual complaints, but rather as a result of
investigative work encompassing many issues.

Has the ICAC's survey on protected disclosures led to any initiatives or changes to
Commission procedures for dealing with protected disclosures?

The Commission undertook research into monitoring the impact of the Protected
Disclosures Act 1994. As part of this research the Commission surveyed the NSW public
Sector Chief Executive Officers, General managers of local councils and NSW public
sector employees. As a result of the survey of the NSW public sector employees the
Commission obtained insight into the attitudinal and organisational barriers which may
exist to public sector employees reporting corruption.

The survey findings suggest that, in the main, NSW public sector employee attitudes to
reporting corruption and the Protected Disclosures Act are positive. The focus for change
needs to be with NSW public sector managers who should take steps to create
organisational cultures in which employees are encouraged to report workplace corruption.

The following is a list of the recommendations made as a result of the findings of the
survey of NSW public sector employees. In each case an outline of the initiatives and/or
changes undertaken by the Commission in response to these recommendations is provided
as a response to Section 4.0 below.

Recommendations

1. The central and accountability bodies should develop strategies and advice to assist
organisations to create work environments which are more conducive to employees
reporting corruption and other workplace wrongdoing internally.

2. The external reporting agencies (ICAC, Ombudsman, Audit Office) should inform
employees about available external reporting channels and when it is appropriate
to access them. Priority should be given to informing public sector employees in:

1. smalier organisations;
il. country local councils;
ili.  junior positions.
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Committee on the ICAC

= A The external reporting agencies should devise strategies for assisting organisations

to educate their employees about:

i recognising corruption and other workplace wrongdoing;

il. how serious corruption and other wrongdoing needs to be before it
should be reported;

iii. the amount of proof which people are expected to provide when
making reports.

4. The external reporting agencies should consider strategies for making the external
reporting channels more accessible to NSW public sector employees in country
locations.

= Any strategies undertaken by the central accountability agencies should make

country organisations and local councils a priority. Steps have already been
undertaken by the Protected Disclosures Steering Committee which is conducting
seminars on the better management of protected disclosures. These seminars have
focussed upon informing the management of local councils in both metropolitan
and country NSW. This initiative should continue and be expanded to include
managers from country agencies.

Reports and Recommendations

1.17

‘What investigations have been the subject of reports to Parliament since November
1997?

Operation Investigation Report Tabled at Parliament
Codename
Cal Report on the Conduct of: George Bertoncello of November 1997

Lane Cove Council, Nazem Bechara in relation to
certain Councillors of Holroyd City Council and
Vittorio Fasan and Antonio Cavalloro and their
dealings with Fairfield City Council.

Cadix Investigation into the Department of Corrective February 1998
Services — First Report: The Conduct of Prison
Officer Toso Lila (Josh) Sua and matters related
thereto.

Sublime Report on the Investigation into the Glebe Morgue. March 1998
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Committee on the ICAC

Zack Report on Investigation into Aboriginal Land April 1998
Councils in New South Wales: Corruption
Prevention and Research Volume. (Summary Report
also available)*

Becker Investigation into Parliamentary and Electorate April 1998
Travel: First Report.

Coruna Investigation into the Disposal of Waste and Surplus  June 1998
Assets in TransGrid, Pacific Power and Integral
Energy

Aroo A Major Investigation into Corruption in the former June 1998

State Rail Authority of New South Wales

* the Investigation Report into the Aboriginal Land Councils in New South Wales is due in September 1998

1.18 In the reports, how many recommendations were there for:
- consideration of prosecution or disciplinary action?
- systemic/administrative changes?

- legislative changes?

Investigation Prosecution / Systemic / Legislative

Report Disciplinary Action Administrative changes
changes

Cal Prosecutions — 22 (1) Nil

(Council Disciplinary Action - Nil

Inspectors)

Cadix Prosecutions — 10 1 Nil

(Corrective Disciplinary Action - Nil

Services - Sua

Segment)

Sublime Prosecutions - 8 persons 7 areas suggested for  Nil

(Glebe Morgue)  Disciplinary Action — 12 improvement

persons cease their employment
prior to the report being
published.
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Zack N/A 26 recommendations dealing with
(Aboriginal Land Councils both systemic/administrative and
— Corruption Prevention legislative changes

and Research Volume)

Becker Prosecutions — 1 (i1) Report

(Parliamentary Travel) Disciplinary Action — 1 foreshadows
need for
legislative
change

Coruna Prosecutions — 6 (1ii) Nil

(TransGrid, Pacific Power Disciplinary Action — Nil

and Integral Energy)

Aroo Prosecutions — 15 persons  (iii) Nil

(State Rail Authority) Disciplinary Action — 1

person
6 In June 1998 the Commission published a Corruption prevention Report Accountable Health and

Building Inspections - Recommendations for Local Government containing ten recommendations
to assist Councils to minimise opportunities for corruption in this area.

(ii) The report sets out the results of a preliminary corruption prevention analysis and foreshadows
further work leading to recommendations for changes to reduce corruption risks.

(iii) This report describes systemic/administrative changes introduced during or after the hearings.

Is the Commissioner satisfied with implementation rates for the recommendations?

1.19.1 Prosecutions / Disciplinary Action

The implementation rate in relation to Sublime and Aroo has been almost total. The
implementation in relation to Zack by the NSW ALC has been high. The implementation
rate in relation to Cadix and Coruna has been good. The implementation rate for Cal is
reasonable and proceeding.

Due to the currency of the above listed reports, implementation of any recommendations
for prosecution or disciplinary action is at the early stages. It is anticipated, based on the
results of other such recommendations made by the Commission to date, that the
Commission will find the decisions of the Director of Public Prosecutions and the
disciplinary bodies satisfactory.

1.19.2 Implementation of Systemic/Administrative recommendations

The effectiveness of the organisational and cultural change required to ensure the
acceptance of the needed systemic or administrative change is not necessarily indicated by
the rate. Implementation as outlined below is underway for the following reports:
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Cadix (Corrective Services - Sua segment): The Commission is assisting the Dept to
develop a bag-searching policy to address the recommendation.

Sublime (Glebe Morgue): Corruption Prevention staff commenced work during the course
of the investigation to assist the Central Sydney Area Health Service in making the
appropriate improvements. These had all been addressed to the satisfaction of the
Commissioner by the time of the release of the report.

Zack (Aboriginal Land Councils - Corruption Prevention and Research Volume): Since
release of this report the Commission's Aboriginal Liaison Officer has been briefing
communities on the recommendations and has begun to assist communities to implement
recommendations. This program will continue over the next two years.

Coruna (TransGrid etc.) and Aroo (State Rail): The Corruption Prevention staff worked
during the course of the investigations with the relevant power and railways organisations
to address corruption prevention issues which emerged during the hearings. For Aroo in
particular, the measures taken are the initiatives of the four agencies, prompted in part by
the Commission's intervention. These were presented in public hearings and the
investigation report shows the range and depth of those initiatives.

1.19.3 Legislative Recommendations

Due to the currency of the above listed reports, implementation of any legislative
recommendations is at the early stages. The Commission will monitor the progress of any
changes to ensure satisfactory outcomes. Amendments arising out of Becker are in course.

What involvement does the ICAC have in the implementation of its
recommendations?

1.20.1 Prosecutions / Disciplinary Action

The Commission is responsible for the preparation of the briefs of evidence which are
forwarded to the Director of Public Prosecutions and disciplinary bodies. The decision as
to whether or not to proceed with the recommended action is made by the recipient of the
brief.

1.20.2 Implementation of Systemic/Administrative recommendations

As described in the answer to question 1.18, the Corruption Prevention and Education Unit
are increasingly becoming involved early in investigations to assist agencies to deal with
issues as they emerge during investigations. When recommendations are made in reports,
the follow-up work done by the Unit often leads to further improvements being made
beyond those recommended.
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When investigation reports make recommendations concerning systemic, administrative
or cultural changes, Corruption Prevention staff generally assist the relevant agency to the
appropriate extent with devising and implementing policy or procedural changes or other
changes which are required. This has been the case with Operations Coruna, Cadix, Zack,
Cal, Aroo and Sublime. Where recommendations refer to education, training or
communication strategies, Education staff may assist eg Cadix, Cal. (See also responses
to Questions 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4)

1.20.3 Legislative Recommendations

The Commission endeavours to play a role in the implementation of recommended
legislative changes by providing commentary on proposed or draft legislation.

Have any prosecutions, convictions and disciplinary actions occurred as a result of
the Commission's investigations?

(Confidential)

Collation of Evidence ¢ 7/9 July 1998 ¢ page 17



2.1

POWERS

Committee on the ICAC

Since the General Meeting in November 1997, what use has the Commission made of
its powers under sections 21 (obtaining information), 22 (obtaining documents or
other things) and 23 (entering premises) of the Act?

The following table sets out the number of Notices issued by the Commission pursuant to

ss.21, 22 and 23 of the ICAC Act from 1989 to 1 June 1998.

1988/89
1989/90
1990/91
1991/92
1992/93
1993/94
1994/95
1995/96

1996/97

S.21

1

25

43

38

22

10

18

29

13

1997/98 (as at 1 June 1998) 26

Total

28/11/97 - 1/06/98

225

21
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143

102

190

229

341

239

116

223

163

297

2043

181

S.23

20

10

21

79
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How many listening device warrants and search warrants have been obtained and
executed?

Listening Devices Search Warrants
1988-89 0 37
1989-90 1 44
1990-91 1 42
1991-92 20 18
1992-93 20 30
1993-94 2 36
1994-95 17 32
1995-96 3 20
1996-97 ' 46 26
1997-98(as at 1 June 1998) 70 16
Total 220 301
28/11/97 - 01/06/98 44 6

In the previous General meeting, you mentioned discussions with the Director of
Public Prosecutions and the Attorney General's Department concerning the use of
ICAC transcripts in evidence. Has this issue been resolved?

The situation remains that the transcript of the evidence of witnesses before the
Commission is not acceptable for inclusion in the brief of evidence to be served on a
defendant pursuant to an order by a Magistrate under the provisions of s48 of the Justices
Act 1902. The relevant provisions of that Act require, amongst other things, that the
evidence of the witness be in statement form and signed by him or her. There are a limited
number of exceptions to this requirement. Despite earlier representations by the
Commission and the Police Integrity Commission to the Attorney General seeking an
appropriate amendment to the legislation, it is not anticipated that there will be any such
amendment.
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Committee on the ICAC

BUDGET

Could you please provide the Committee with the Commission's latest Statement of
Financial Performance?

See Appendix E.
Could the Commission provide details of the Budget allocation for each Section? Is
it possible to determine what was spent on investigations? What proportion of the

Commission's total expenditure is related to covert and surveillance operations?

The Commission's budget allocation for 1997-98 financial year was as follows:

Section Amount
$°000
Investigations $3,876
Legal $1,709
Corruption Prevention $1,259
Education $724
Research $297
Corporate Services $1,711
Executive $620
Commission Wide $4,252
Total Expenses $14,448

The Commission allocates less than 1% of its total expenditure to covert and surveillance
operations.

The annual report for 1996-7 notes that the Commission spent $79,000 on books
and periodicals in 1997 and $57,000 in 1996. Could the Commission provide the
Committee with a list of the books and periodicals it bought for 1996-7? What types
of books and periodicals are held by the Commission?

The Commission library is predominantly a law library, which includes legislation, case
law and authorities with an emphasis on New South Wales administrative and criminal
law. Other subjects covered include: corruption, bribery, government, planning,
management, fraud, public administration, information technology and
telecommunications, law enforcement and corrections, contracting and tendering,
commissions of inquiry.
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3.6

Committee on the ICAC

On what was the Commission's publicity budget expended in 1996-97?

The Commission does not have a publicity budget in the sense of self promotion but has
an advertising budget to promote the Commission's corruption prevention and education
products and publications. For 1996-97 the Commission spent approximately $72,000
advertising education products, $6,000 advertising corruption prevention publications
and $20,000 advertising Commission investigation hearings.

The ICAC Annual Report for 1996-7 notes that the Commission spent $683,000
(1997) and $746,000 (1996) on fees for services, excluding external legal fees. Could
the Commission provide the Committee with more information on the nature of
these services?

The Commission's fees for service expenditure were spent in the following sections as
follows:

Section 1995 - 96 1996 — 97
$°000 $°000

Investigations 25 41

Legal 9 39
Corruption Prevention 97 20
Education 395 376
Research 18 23
Corporate Services 221 115
Commission Wide 21 69

Total Fees for Service 746 683

Would you provide the Committee with a break-down of the expenditure on
external legal fees for 1996-7?

The Commission spent $760,083 on external legal fees during 1996 - 97. This related to
13 investigations as follows:
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Operation Name
Talisman
Sturt
Zack
Aroo
Visual
Sublime
Yalta
Thimble
Cadix
Astra

Cal
Coruna
Berdan

Total Legal Fees

Operation Description
SRA Cleaning

Fairfield City Council
Aboriginal Land Councils
SRA

Dept Gaming and Racing
Glebe Morgue

Public Employment Office
Lismore DPP

Corrective Services

Local Councils
TransGrid

Amount Spent
500
31,169
79,820
198,540
78,126
66,600
32,294
20,775
52,569
2,250
118,390
77,250
1,800

760,083

The 1996-7 State Capital Program budget paper (Number 4) has $240,000
allocated for the Commission's computer system. Could you advise the Committee
on the nature of the expenditure on the Commission's computer system?

The capital budget of $240,000 is for the purchase of all assets for the Commission, not
just the computer system. The Commission has in fact entered into a lease arrangement
for the lease of its computer system needs and the bulk of these costs are now expensed
on an annual basis. The $240,000 has therefore been spent on the following items:

Description Amount
Digital Audio Processor 19,975
Video Projector 9,995
Portabie Radios 12,436
Additional Personnel Software 2,000
Financial Software 28,500
Netmap Software 15,600
Investigative Equipment 22,185
Security System Upgrade 147,280
Miscellaneous Software 7,748
Total Capital Purchases 265,719

The Commission received a capital allocation of $240,000 for 1996 - 97, the additional
expenditure was funded by the sale of existing assets.

—
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RESEARCH, CORRUPTION PREVENTION AND
EDUCATION

What activities has the Research section undertaken since our last meeting?

Between November 1997 and June 1998 the Research Section has focused its efforts in
the following areas:

One member of the Research Section is working full-time with the
Investigations Unit to provide research assistance on identifying areas of
potential need for investigation within the public sector.

One member of the Research Section is working 50% of her workload with the
Legal Unit to develop the strategic focus of the ICAC.

The Research Section is currently analysing data for a project looking at how the
public sector is perceived by private contractors who have won contracts with
the public sector. Issues explored in this research include perceptions of private
contractors and consultants with regard to:

- differences and similarities in working with private and public sector
organisations;

- differences in ethical values between the two sectors;

- changes in emphasis on ethics over past 5 years;

- private sector awareness of public sector rules and regulations;

- impact of public sector rules and regulation on private contractors;

- understanding of public duty.

The final report of the review of the Protected Disclosures Act was released at
the end of November 1997. The Research Section has since been involved in
activities with the Protected Disclosures Act Implementation Steering
Committee to promote the results and to generate solutions for some of the
problems revealed by the research.

The ICAC's Report on Investigation into Aboriginal Land Councils in New
South Wales: Corruption Prevention and Research Volume and the Corruption
Prevention and Research Summary were published in April 1998. The Research
component of both reports was conducted and written by the Research Section.

The Research Section is conducting an analysis of the public sector
organisations from or about which the ICAC receives s.10 complaints, s.11
reports and protected disclosures compared to those organisations about which
the ICAC does not receive s.10, s.11 or protected disclosures.
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. Two separate literature reviews were combined and published as the ICAC
research report, Minimising corruption: Some lessons from the literature in
January 1998. These literature reviews (Identification of corruption risk factors:
An analysis of the literature, and Applying crime prevention concepts to the
problem of minimising corruption) were prepared as resources to assist those
who are considering how best to minimise workplace corruption. Both of these
reviews seek to contribute to the informed discussion about the nature of
corruption and about the most effective methods for minimising corruption.

. The Research Section held focus groups with public sector managers from
metropolitan and regional centres to identify the major corruption risk areas
defined by public sector managers. Other aims of the focus groups were to
discover the successful and unsuccessful strategies that public sector managers
have undertaken to prevent corruption as well as the barriers to preventing
corruption. Experience with the ICAC and use of ICAC products were also
evaluated during the focus groups.

. A study is being conducted by the Research Section about ethical culture. The
Research Section is producing a review of the research literature which outlines
the advantages of emphasising ethics in the workplace. Together with the
review, a survey of ethical culture is being produced which can be used by
organisations to assess their own ethical cultures. The survey will also be
administered and analysed by the ICAC with a number of randomly selected
public sector organisations.

What activities have been undertaken by the Corruption Prevention Unit since the
last meeting?

4.2.1 Ongoing projects

Recruitment and selection

Corruption Prevention staff have been working closely with the review of merit
selection processes being conducted by the Director of Equal Opportunity in Public
Employment and the Premier's Department to ensure that probity issues are central to
the review's recommendations.

A set of case studies about recruitment is currently nearing completion and will be
published early in the new financial year.
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Local Government inspectors

Following hearings in early 1997 into the operation of local government inspectorial
functions (Operation Cal) a set of guidelines for councils has been developed on how to
reduce the opportunities for inspectors to act corruptly. The report, Accountable Health
and Building Inspections, was released in June 1998 and communication of the
guideline will be undertaken early in the financial year. The Commissioner has
addressed a regional conference of local government health and building inspectors on
the report.

Organisational change - upgrading skills and tools

Corruption prevention work - whether it be assisting with an investigation or advising
public sector agencies on best practice corruption prevention strategies - is about change
management. This project is designed to upgrade the skills of Corruption Prevention
staff in advising organisations on planned change management.

An expert on managing change strategies was engaged to conduct three training days for
staff. The skills gained in this process are being used in the Unit's advice and project
work.

The complementary part of the project - to develop a package of tools or models for
assisting public sector organisations - is continuing.

Post separation employment

A position paper will be published early in the new financial year to follow up on the
principal issues raised in the 1997 discussion paper, Managing Post Separation
Employment. The discussion paper examined several possible strategies to minimise
opportunities for corruption in the area of post separation employment. The
Commission set out its initial position on how best to manage post separation
employment and sought the views of chief executives and other principal officers
responsible for reporting corruption to the Commission and promoting corruption
prevention in their agencies.

4.2.2 New corruption prevention projects
Assistance to the Ombudsman Commission of Papua New Guinea
The Commission is working with Educo Pty Ltd, Project Contractor, on a project

funded by AusAID, to improve the work of the staff of the Papua New Guinea
Ombudsman Commission.
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The Director, Corruption Prevention and Education has made several visits to Papua
New Guinea to contribute to the development of a strategic plan and a project plan and
to commence system and organisational re-design work.

Monitoring of recommendations of investigation

A project commenced to formally monitor the implementation of the recommendations
made by the Commission in investigation reports since 1996. This is a follow-up to a
previous project and will provide current information relevant to Question 1.18 above.

4.2.3 Advice and corruption minimisation work

Advice work
Examples of major pieces of advice work by the unit include:

- the proposed reward system for internal witnesses for the NSW Police Service;

- a proposed transport system to Jenolan Caves for the Caves Trust;

- the privatisation of the TAB;

- the sale of Axiom Funds Management Ltd;

- corruption prevention recommendations arising from the awarding of a contract
to Mannings Funeral Homes for the Department of Public Works and Services;

- corruption prevention issues for the Tow Truck Industry Council of NSW;

- policy and procedures for searching correctional centre staff for the Department
of Corrective Services;

- Olympic bus contracts for the Olympic Roads and Transport Authority;

- the tender for remediation of landslides at Thredbo for the National Parks and
Wildlife Service;

- sale of the Eastern Creek Raceway.

Presentations and seminars

Corruption prevention staff and the Commissioner have conducted presentations for a
variety of organisations during the past seven months. They include:

- Sessions for the Australian Institute of Police Management development course.

- A session for the Australasian Fire Authorities Council for a management
development course.

- Sessions in a leadership training course for senior TransGrid managers.

- Seminar for visiting Indonesian internal auditors attending a course at the
Faculty of economics at the University of Sydney.

- Seminars on ethics and leadership for senior executives in RTA, SRA, RAC,
RSC and Freightcorp.
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New Masters course on Corruption and Anti-Corruption- Australian National
University

The Commission has formed a partnership with The Australian National University to
teach a new unit called "Corruption and Anti-corruption" as part of a Masters degree in
Development Administration, in the National Centre for Development Studies. It aims
to help course participants to devise strategies to make organisations less exposed and
more resistant to corruption.

Transparency International was a catalyst for the development of a course which was
originally designed in response to a request for training from a non-government
organisation in Indonesia. Most of the students are mid career public servants from
developing countries in Australia's neighbourhood, or people working in aid agencies.

The unit will be first taught over 4 weeks in October - November 1998 and then
annually. It will also be offered as a professional short course. Discussions are under
way to teach shorter versions, emphasising the practical aspects of corruption
prevention, in neighbouring countries.

4.2.4 Commission investigations

Operation Zack

Since the last PJC meeting the Commission has released its Corruption Prevention and
Research Report containing recommendations for reform of the Aboriginal Land
Council system.

The important reforms recommended include, tailoring governance models to be more
responsive to local needs and contemporary cultural dynamics, training and skills
development in essential areas, the co-ordination of dispute handling systems and the
placing of greater emphasis on internal (rather than external) accountability
mechanisms.

An Aboriginal Corruption Prevention Officer has been appointed to lead the Project in
the next phase. He is facilitating the implementation of recommendations and working
with communities on localised corruption prevention strategies. Since the release of the
Report, the Project Leader has been conducting briefings on the content and background
of the Report in communities throughout NSW and the Commissioner has visited and
spoken in a number of country centres as part of this programme in an endeavour to
stress the significance which the Commission places on its report on Aboriginal Land
Councils in NSW.

Since November 1997 public hearings were concluded and submissions received. A
second report on the investigation aspects of Operation Zack is being prepared.
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Operation Cadix

A team comprising Corruption Prevention and Education personnel commenced
extensive research and consultation process with the Department of Corrective Services
in order i1dentify and understand the management and systems issues which are
emerging during the Commission's investigation into the Department. Assistance is
being provided to the Department in addressing some of these issues.

Operation Becker

An integral component of the Commission's investigation into the actions of some
members of the NSW Parliament has been a corruption prevention analysis of Members'
entitlements and the systems, policies and procedures used to administer those
entitlements. Commission staff have spent considerable time within the Parliament
becoming familiar with the systems used to administer entitlements. Parliamentary staff
were also consulted in an effort to identify problem areas and possible solutions.

The analysis initially concentrated on the use of air travel warrants in the Legislative
Assembly as specified in the investigation's terms of reference. However, air travel
warrants are just one component of a larger, interrelated system and the review also
incorporated to a lesser extent the wide range of entitlements available to Members and
revealed grounds for more general concern regarding the use and acquittance of
entitlements.

Corruption Prevention and Education personnel will be working in co-operation with
relevant organisations including the Premier's Department, Cabinet Office and the
Council on the Cost of Government to examine appropriate systems for administration
and implementation of MP's entitlements. Consideration will be given to incorporating
corruption prevention strategies and initiating training and educational programs for
parliamentarians and their staff.

Contributions have also been made to Commission reports for Operations Aroo (SRA),
Cal (local government inspectors) and Coruna (TransGrid etc.). See also the answers to
Question 1.18.

What activities have been undertaken by the Education section since our last
meeting?

The Education Section's work aims to influence selected public sector and community
audiences so that their responses to corruption and potential corruption contribute to the
Commission's objectives of exposing and minimising corruption. Projects to achieve
these outcomes are planned annually and are contained in the Commission's strategic
plans. An outline of the projects led by the Education Section since the last meeting is
summarised below.
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4.3.1 Public Sector Education

(i) Work with key central and regulatory agencies to influence the public
sector on a whole of government scale to support ethics and corruption
minimisation

Protected Disclosures Act Implementation Steering Committee

The ICAC chairs the Protected Disclosures Act Implementation Steering Committee
established by the Premier to heighten public sector awareness and response levels to
provisions of the Protected Disclosures Act. The committee membership includes the
ICAC; NSW Ombudsman's Office, Audit Office of NSW, Premiers Department, Dept
of Local Government Police Integrity Commission and the Police Service. The ICAC
had a lead role in the following Committee initiatives:

Workshops

Since last reporting, the committee has organised and conducted the following Better
Management of Protected Disclosures workshops in Sydney and regional NSW:

Wednesday 18 February 1998 State Transit Authority
Friday 20 February 1998 State Transit Authority
Wednesday 15 April 1998 Dubbo

Wednesday 22 April 1998 Chatswood
Wednesday 14 May 1998 Parramatta

Monday 18 May 1998 Newecastle

Wednesday 27 May 1998 Sydney

Thursday 28 May 1998 State Transit Authority
Wednesday 3 June 1988 Sydney

Evaluation : Four more are scheduled for July 1998 (Wagga Wagga, Goulburn, Lismore
and Armidale) and attendances of over 300 participants are expected. Participants have
responded favourably to the workshop content, format and delivery with 82 % reporting
with that the workshops are very relevant and 92% stating that their nominated key
workshop outcome was met by the presenters.

Focus Groups

Education and Research staff have been conducting focus groups with general managers
of councils and CEOs of state agencies to discover solutions to the findings in the ICAC
research document Monitoring the Impact of the Protected Disclosures Act 1994.

Evaluation: Analysis of the group discussions will be undertaken and published prior to
the next meeting of the PJC. Copies of the forthcoming discussion paper will be
circulated to all general managers and CEOs.
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Ethics Working Party

The Ethics Working Party is a component of the Premier's Department's public policy
making structure. It works to identify ways ethics can be structured into the policy
framework and helping support their implementation. The initial group (ICAC,
Premier's Dept and union representatives) met on 26 May and agreed to expand the
composition of the group to include agencies contributing to public sector policy,
regulatory agencies and operational agencies. The expanded group met on 23 June 1998
and resolved to develop relevant projects for the forthcoming year.

Evaluation: Formal reporting the Chief Executives Committee has also been agreed and
will be undertaken in the new financial year.

(i) Provide information and materials so that others are equipped and better
able to act in support of the Commission's objectives

Conduct Becoming Workshops

In 1996 the Commission released a video-based training resource Conduct
Becoming...the personal responsibility of public duty. It is intended to assist trainers, .
supervisors and managers to facilitate discussion groups of new and experienced public
officials, including elected local government councillors, on the nature and ethics of
public duty.

In response to requests from public sector agencies for assistance in using the resource,
the Commission has, together with the Institute of Municipal Management which
undertook administrative and promotional arrangements, conducted twelve full-day
workshops in the period from March to May 1998 as outlined below. These followed
an earlier series conducted in late 1997.

Tuesday 24 March 1998 Sydney
Thursday 26 March 1998 Sydney
Tuesday 31 March 1998 Blacktown
Tuesday 14 April 1998 Wollongong
Thursday 16 April 1998 Queanbeyan
Thursday 23 April 1998 Narrandera
Thursday 30 April 1998 Coffs Harbour
Monday 4 May 1998 Dubbo
Thursday 7 May 1998 Broken Hill
Wednesday 13 May 1998  Newcastle
Thursday 14 May 1998 Newcastle

The aims of the workshops were to:
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- Facilitate and encourage the use of the resource in public sector
agencies, and
- Encourage the discussion of ethics and public duty in the workplace.

Evaluation: Over 160 public officials and elected representatives from councils and
state agencies participated in the workshops. 85% rated the workshops as valuable and
found the content very relevant to their organisations. Higher levels of understanding
were reported by participants in the following:

a) public duty 73%
b) corruption 76%
c) Corruption prevention issues 86%
d) Use of the Conduct Becoming kit 96%

Opportunities exist for the resource to be expanded by the inclusion of additional
materials to guide managers and field workers. The Commission plans to initiate this
project in the next financial year.

Corruption Matters Newspaper

Two more editions of the Commission's tri-annual newspaper to inform the NSW public
sector about ethical and corruption-related issues and stimulate thought and discussion
were published in the period.

Evaluation: A January evaluation of the newspaper involving a small test group
indicated that recipients found the newspaper very useful as a source of corruption
prevention information and as a motivational and training tool for staff. A large-scale
evaluation is being conducted currently, and the results will inform future issues of
Corruption Matters.

Internal Investigation training

The Education Section is managing and co-facilitating interactive workshops with
Public Sector staff who have little experience or no experience in conducting internal
investigations, but may be required to do so on occasion. The aim of the training is to
provide practical advice on how to conduct a range of minor internal investigations
competently and efficiently. The workshops, which are administratively supported by
IPAA, are presently scheduled for Tuesday 14 July and Wednesday 12 August in
Sydney, and more may be undertaken as required.

Evaluation: This will be through course evaluation questionnaires and follow-up contact
with participants.
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4.3.2 Community Education

(i) Strategies to inform about the ICAC and how to take responsible against
corruption

Public Outreach

The Commissioner has made more than 30 speeches touching on the work of the
Commission to various community groups, educators gatherings, public sector agencies
and at various relevant conferences.

ICAC Web Site

www.icacnsw.gov.au has been developed in-house over the past six months. It contains
general information about the ICAC, the ICAC Act, updates on training opportunities
and seminars, media releases, the Corruption Matters newspaper, details of what and
how to report to the ICAC, links to other relevant sites and the complete text of
investigation, corruption prevention and research reports. The website is updated
regularly with new material (reports etc) being simultaneously published electronically.

The web site has been promoted to the public sector through advertising in specialist
public sector publications and the distribution of ICAC mouse mats and flyers. Flyers
promoting the web site are also being inserted into every publication mailed from the
ICAC to encourage the use of this alternative point of access to ICAC information.

Evaluation: "Visits" currently number over 2,000 per week. The most frequently visited
parts of the web site are new reports and the Practical Guide to Corruption Prevention.
Use of the web site is being closely monitored and evaluated using a standard web site
statistics package.

Community Advisers Project

This strategy to assist those in the community who act as advisers to better help those
who come to them with corruption issues. A publication to help community advisers,
the Guide for Community Advisers has been distributed widely including to all
parliamentarians and been well received. The current phase of the project involves
raising awareness of the work of the ICAC and resources available, through advertising
and articles in specialist publications for various community advisers. The next phase of
the project is a program of liaison with peak bodies for those who act in a community
advisory role.

Evaluation: The current and succeeding phases will involve consultation, and the
ensuing strategies will be based on the information so gathered, ensuring reliability.
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NESB Project

A brochure focussing on what constitutes bribery was developed for use in a wider
communication strategy. This brochure was then tested with focus groups, and adapted
in line with their recommendations.

The brochure, utilising the headline and key message "Bribery = Crime", has now been
produced in a total of twelve community languages: English, Arabic, Chinese, Croatian,
Greek, Italian, Korean, Russian, Serbian, Spanish, Turkish and Vietnamese. A
supporting poster has also been produced.

Evaluation: As the NESB strategy is based on research findings and as the brochures
have been focus group tested, the product and strategy have a high degree of reliability.

Regional Poster Exhibition

Evaluation: The final exhibition of the competition finalists was completed in the last
reporting period. An evaluation completed by exhibition attendees has been compiled
and shows the following:

- 76% of people attending have an increased awareness of corruption.

- 66% said that the exhibition had influenced their understanding about
corruption (comments stating that the exhibition highlighted the
seriousness, potential widespread nature, insidiousness, pervasiveness).

With approximately 70,000 people visiting the exhibition throughout its tour of regional
galleries, it has proved to be an innovative and effective tool in promoting the
anti-corruption message for the community and was effective in involving young
people.

(ii) Strategies to shape ethical attitude and behaviour through formal and
professional education

Promote existing resources

The ICAC has an impressive suite of educational resources for schools. These resources
include Talk of Toppsville for Science and Technology students in kindergarten and
primary schools and Valuing for Work and Ethics in Design and Technology for Years
7 - 10 and HSC Design and Technology students respectively. All the resources cover
content areas in the syllabi while also requiring students to make ethical decisions in
answering questions.
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Rather than develop more resources, the emphasis has been to increase the use of the
available material. Promotion has been undertaken using a three-pronged approach:
advertising in the education section of mainstream newspapers, advertising in specialist
education publications and direct mailout to primary and secondary schools.

Evaluation: Awaiting finalisation of responses to ads and mailouts.
Update of Ethics and Enterprise - The Life Cycle of a Business

This HSC Business Studies kit was launched in 1995 and consists of a video, teacher
handbook and student activity sheets. The kit helps teachers teach the life cycle of a
business, while raising corruption and other ethic-related issues.

The kit has been updated and redistributed in line with recommendations made in the
1997 review by the Research section. To improve the resource, the ICAC engaged four
writers - teachers, HSC markers and business people - recommended by the Board of
Studies NSW. The new resource meets the needs of the teachers in a way that will
ensure its continued regular use, and consequent exposure of thousands of young people
throughout the state to corruption and other ethical issues, for the coming years.

Evaluation: The effectiveness of the updated kit is to be measured by the feedback from
an evaluation form to be sent to teachers in mid 1999, after they have had an
opportunity to use the kit in class.

(iii) Extend media relations reach

Much of this work is on-going in nature. Implementation of media strategy continues
with briefings about the ICAC, its work and procedures for cadet journalists being
given.

(iv)  Provide corporate relations services
Visitors

Since November 1997 the Commission has received visitors from the following
agencies and organisations:

February 1998 Visit by Mr Paul Ramasiam, Director of Personnel, Public Service
Commission of Fiji

February 1998 Visit by His Excellency Cao Quingze, Minister of Supervision, People's
Republic of China, accompanied by:

Mr Hou Shihua, Director General Guangxi Province Supervision
Bureau
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Mr Zhang Huawei, Deputy Director, 8th Supervision Department,
Ministry of Supervision

Mr Lui Nui, Division Chief, Administration Office, Ministry of
Supervision

Mr Guo Songjiang, Deputy Division Chief, Foreign Affairs Office,
Ministry of Supervision (who will interpret for the party)

June 1998 Seven delegates from the Supreme People's Procurate, People's
Republic of China
June 1998 Two delegates from the Dept. of Government Ethics, Ministry of

Justice, Taiwan:

Mr Chin, Hsiang, Section Chief, Dept. of Government Ethics, Ministry
of Justice

Mr Yeh, Chien-Hua, Staff, Dept. of Government Ethics, Ministry of
Justice

How does the Commission evaluate the effectiveness of these programs?
4.4.1 Research
It is an integral part of the ICAC program to evaluate ICAC products and services.

Formal evaluations have been undertaken on a number of our products. These included
evaluations of the Legal Studies kit and the Business Studies kit. These evaluations
involved written surveys, telephone surveys and face-to-face interviews with users of
the products. Reports of these evaluations are available.

Focus groups with managers were utilised to obtain feedback about the usefulness of
ICAC products and services. These were conducted in November 1997.

Recently, focus groups were held with CEOs and General Managers from NSW public
sector organisations. This provided a forum for senior people in organisations to
comment on their perceptions of areas in which the ICAC can improve.

4.4.2 Corruption Prevention

Evaluation of Corruption Prevention programs varies according to the type of activity.
For instance, evaluation of the effectiveness of advice given to public sector and other
enquirers is carried out informally as the advice is given. The recent focus groups run by
the Research section confirmed that agencies have a high regard for the timeliness and
usefulness of advice given.
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The effectiveness of projects on particular corruption prevention issues commences
from the external review process conducted even before publications are released. A
panel of key agencies, including major potential users of the material, is used to review
draft project reports and canvass other opinions on ICAC recommendations. After
reports are released the number of requests for them and the use made of them are
monitored.

The more general community and client surveys conducted from time to time by the
Research Section are also used to evaluate the effectiveness of corruption prevention

programs.
4,4.3 Education

Evaluation and effectiveness has been discussed wherever possible in responses to
Question 4.3 and an evaluation segment has been included after each project described.

S ———— e e b el S et
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BARRY STANLEY JOHN O'KEEFE, AM, QC, Commissioner, Independent
Commission Against Corruption, 191 Cleveland Street, Redfern, before the Committee:

CHAIRMAN: In what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Mr O'KEEFE: I appear here as Commissioner of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption in accordance with the provisions of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption Act at the request of the Committee and have been given this
morning a summons under your hand as Vice-Chairman.

CHAIRMAN: You have placed a submission before us?

Mr O'KEEFE: Yes. The Committee sent two lots of questions to the
Commission, and they have been answered in extenso in, I think, three documents in all.

CHAIRMAN: So it contains confidential material concerning prosecutions, and
the Commission has requested, as I understand it, that this full submission provided to
the Committee should be dealt with confidentially and an edited version will be provided
to the public?

Mr O'KEEFE: There are some confidential matters treated in the material, and
it would be undesirable that they in the public interest be made public but the residue of
the material is material which we produce publicly for the Committee and for publication.

CHAIRMAN: On behalf of the Committee I welcome you here today and advise
that as Deputy Chairman I will be chairing the hearing today. The Chairman has tendered
apologies as he is overseas. Under the Independent Commission Against Corruption Act
this Committee has a responsibility to monitor and review the exercise by the
Independent Commission Against Corruption of its functions, and since the inception of
the ICAC we have held regular public hearings with the Commissioner. At each of these
hearings members can question the Commissioner about matters of concern or public
interest related to general aspects of the Commission's operations or follow up issues
arising from Independent Commission Against Corruption reports.

The Committee hopes that by conducting these hearings in public and tabling a
collation of the Commissioner's evidence the public and members are better informed on
the Independent Commission Against Corruption. The Committee has formed the view
that we will ask Commissioner O'Keefe questions concering the recent judgment by His
Honour Justice Einstein in the matter of Gibson v O'Keefe. We are of the view that the
issues raised in that judgment are of sufficient public interest to warrant examination.

Following these questions we will move on to the general review the work of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption and invite the Commissioner to make his
usual address to us at that time. Before we start the formal proceedings I would like to
make clear that the Committee does not intend to look at the specifics of the hearings
relating to the Bayeh matter as this is beyond our jurisdiction. We are interested solely
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in the issues raised in the Einstein judgment. If you would not mind, Commissioner, I
would put a couple of questions to you relating to this matter. What is the status of the
current part-heard inquiry?

Mr O'KEEFE: An Assistant Commissioner was appointed by His Excellency
the Governor at the Executive Council meeting on Wednesday of last week. That
Assistant Commissioner is the Hon. Jeremy Badgery-Parker, Queen's Counsel, who is a
recently retired Supreme Court judge. He was a member of the Common Law Division
and is experienced in civil and criminal matters, sitting very frequently in criminal
matters and on the Court of Criminal Appeal. He had agreed to take over the conduct of
that matter, and it is anticipated that he will have a preliminary hearing in the matter in
the third week, I think it is, of July. And the matter will then proceed. The manner in
which it proceeds will be a matter for the Assistant Commissioner to determine.

CHAIRMAN: Do you have a time frame for completion of the tabling of the
report?

Mr O'KEEFE: That, of course, will depend upon the way in which the Assistant
Commissioner determines that the matter should be dealt with. It is hoped that the report
in the matter would be able to be published some time in September or, at the latest, in
October of this year. It is my desire as Commissioner to ensure that the report is available
as quickly as possible so as not to become caught up in the pre-election flurry that tends
to occur in the six months before an election. Often it is longer than that, but there is an
election scheduled constitutionally in this State for late March of 1999, and it would be
highly desirable to have the report out of the way that is, tabled in the
Houses before the true campaign for elections gets under way. There is another factor
as well. Since there are two members of the House who have given evidence in the
matter, the outcome in relation to them would be desirably known before one ran into
preselection considerations and the like, and that is why I have sought to ensure that there
is a report by September. But, of course, that is not in my hands. That is in the hands of
the Assistant Commissioner, who will make his own decisions as to how the matter
proceeds.

Dr MACDONALD: As aresult of the Einstein judgment you have stepped down
from further hearings in the Bayeh-Gibson matter?

Mr O'KEEFE: Yes.

Dr MACDONALD: Has this prejudiced the outcome, and do you have any
regrets as to your actions?

Mr O'KEEFE: I do not think it has prejudiced the outcome. The Assistant
Commissioner who has been appointed is a man of great experience. He is a person of
not only experience in the law but of life as well. I do not think that there is any prejudice
arising from that. Twenty-twenty vision is what hindsight has and, looking back, I could
say that it would have been better had the speech at the Town Hall not taken the form that
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it did, and I regret that it took that form with the outcome that flowed from that, but
beyond that I really think there was an important balance question.

The Commission has spent some $2 million on an inquiry into Aboriginal land
councils. Aboriginal land councils are recipients of very considerable sums of money
from the Treasury of the State of New South Wales. An investigation indicated that that
money was not being applied, in many instances, in the way in which it should. The
examination of those councils which we undertook was designed with a twofold purpose:
First, to expose what had happened and, secondly, to remediate the situation.

The importance of that investigation to the ICAC is very great, and the stressing
of that was, and is, an important matter. It is sufficiently important that I think it
appropriate that I should travel to a number of country centres. I did so in the
investigative phase, and I have been doing so in the implementation phase, just to stress
how important we think it is. And it was in that context that the speech at the Town Hall
was made. I think in terms of the effect upon Aboriginal people of accepting that the
Commission was serious, genuine and determined to ensure that its investigation would
bear fruit, there was much good that came out of that. The side issue that arose was
unfortunate and, as I have said, I regret that, the more so in hindsight, but what is past is
past and one must look to the future.

Dr MACDONALD: But you are seeking to justify the Zack inquiry, the
Aboriginal land councils inquiry, and I have no argument with that, but notwithstanding
the importance of that and the money that was spent on it, how does that link in with the
fact that you made inappropriate remarks in the Town Hall speech? You cannot fall back
on an argument, surely, that because it was an important investigation you were
undertaking that in some way justifies your comments?

Mr O'KEEFE: Dr Macdonald, one sentence was inappropriate, that is all, and
one sentence in four years is not too bad. We all make mistakes. Perhaps parliamentarians
do not, but ordinary bureaucrats do, and I am one. But that was a mistake, and what more
than that can 1 say? I am not trying to justify it.

Dr MACDONALD: That is what you should have said, but why do you in some
way seek to mitigate against that by arguing that the Aboriginal land councils inquiry was
so important?

Mr O'KEEFE: I will go back over it. Perhaps I did not make myself clear. In
order to launch the Zack report it was necessary to interrupt the hearing of the Gibson
matter. Instead of starting at 10 o'clock I think I started at 9.30, so that the amount of time
lost would not be great, and sat until 5.00 that day, so that in fact no time was lost.
However, that break was in the context of it being suggested that breaks in the hearing
were for bikkies and cheese. That might be regarded by Aboriginal people as denigrating
the work that was being presented to them on that day. What I was seeking to do was
stress the importance of our work, that it was not a bikkies and cheese thing, whatever
anybody might say.
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Dr MACDONALD: I am happy with that answer because it seems to go to the
point of the matter. Are you concerned that the fact that you have vacated the chair so to
speak in terms of the inquiry and the fact that a stand-in Commissioner, or an Assistant
Commissioner, has been appointed, might lead to significant delays or court challenges
that the whole things should be started again? Looking to the future I can anticipate that
questions may be raised whether it is possible for a standing Commission to be able to
deal with the matter without starting again from the beginning.

Mr O'KEEFE: I can only say what was said to the Commission and to the
Supreme Court. The solicitor appearing for Mr Gibson before the Commission, that is,
during the course of the hearing, when he raised the challenge to my continuance
suggested at that very time that actually counsel assisting should write the report and be
the Assistant Commissioner and do so on the evidence oral and documentary that had
been tendered. So that did not suggest a further hearing, and it is all in the transcript.

Secondly, when the matter went to the Supreme Court Senior Counsel for Mr
Gibson, Mr Littlemore, raised precisely the same matter. It went to a matter of discretion,
and the suggestion was that there would be no delay; the matter could be dealt with
promptly on the material that had been produced to that date. Now that material is both
in written form and in visual form.

The evidence that was given by the particular witnesses and each of them was the
subject of video recording as they give their evidence so that the visual impressions as
well as the audible and written result of those evidences is before whoever is going to
deal with it. I do not know what submissions will be made to the Assistant
Commissioner, but one could hardly ignore 16 days of evidence. It has been given; that
has been sworn to. What will be done over and above that is a matter for the assistant
Commission, so it is neither waste nor do I think necessarily it will follow that there will
be a complete new hearing. Indeed, if one were to accept the invitation made by both
solicitor and counsel for Mr Gibson that would not follow at all.

Mr WATKINS: When did the investigation begin, perhaps the private hearings
into this matter? When did they first start? When did the private hearings into this matter
begin, the date?

Mr O'KEEFE: I am sorry, I would have to take that on notice, but I can say in
general terms that they commenced some months before the public hearings commenced.

Mr WATKINS: And when did they begin, the public hearings? Just a general
month. I do not want to pin you down.

Mr O'KEEFE: I think they were in April of this year, April 1998, but I will
check that.

Mr WATKINS: You said this moming that it is unlikely to get a finalised

document until September or perhaps October. How many months is that? Eight months
or so?
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Mr O'KEEFE: Six months, that is, if it goes to October; five if it goes to
September, remembering that it finished in early May. We had not finished submissions
at that stage and we were not going to finish submissions because of the availability of
counsel, et cetera, until the end of May, so the length of time from the putative
completion to September is about four months.

Mr WATKINS: But to the people involved who have been subject to quite
rigorous questioning and damage to their reputations, that damage has continued for
about six months, or one-eighth of their parliamentary term. It is a long time to be under
that form of pressure, is it not?

Mr O'KEEFE: Well, it is, but the alternative to that, of course, is not to
investigate. But when the ICAC was set up in 1988 at the forefront of the allegations that
were being made and which the ICAC was set up to investigate were allegations of
corruption in the political process, that is, a conjunction between organised crime and
politicians. That, therefore, if you read the debates, particularly of May 1988, is very
much in the forefront, not to look at such a matter when a serious allegation like that is
made would be a derogation of our duties; and, secondly, not to do it properly and
thoroughly would be even worse. So to do that takes time.

We had the private hearings in order first to test whether or not there was, as it
were, a case to answer, and then we moved on to the public hearings, which occupied 16
days, not counting submissions. If the matter had proceeded to completion without the
interruption that it has unfortunately undergone, I would have hoped to have had a report
out by mid to late July. That will be postponed a couple of months now.

Mr WATKINS: What was the delay in appointing a new Assistant
Commissioner?

Mr O'KEEFE: Mr Chairman, could I deal with that matter in camera, please?
Mr WATKINS: When will we be dealing with the in camera matters?
CHAIRMAN: We could either go on and deal with some other questions 1

think we will do it that way——and come back and have the in camera section at the end.
That makes it easier for everyone.

Commissioner: But might I say as part of the answer that I can give without a
problem that the nomination of a person as Assistant Commissioner is a function that
may be performed by government or may be performed by the Commissioner. The
determination of the acceptance of that person or persons is a matter ultimately for
government, not for the Commission, and the processes that are involved in assessment
through the Cabinet Office, by the Cabinet and up to the Executive Council are processes
which, even when expedited, still take some time, and there was not an immediacy of
appointment, but there are other factors which are more significant than that.

Mr WATKINS: What is the title of the inquiry?
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Mr O'KEEFE: It is an inquiry into whether or not there was a connection
between members of the Parliament and Mr Louis Bayeh, or those associated with him,
and whether or not members, or a member, received any benefit or advantage from such
persons in the course of their parliamentary duties. That is a precis of the scope and
purpose of it.

Mr WATKINS: My understanding and please correct me if I am
is that Ms Nori was involved as a witness assisting the Commission?

wrong

Mr O'KEEFE: I do not propose to discuss the evidence in the matter. I think it
quite inappropriate for the committee to question me about that matter during the
pendency of the inquiry, and that involves particular conduct. What finding may be made
in respect of Ms Nori is a matter not for me but for the Assistant Commissioner.

Mr WATKINS: I am not questioning in detail; I am just trying to clear up her
role in assisting the Commission.

Mr O'KEEFE: That, as I say, is for somebody else to determine.

Mr WATKINS: How can the public be assured that the final report has not been
tainted by this huge controversy and the unfortunate delay?

Mr O'KEEFE: I do not understand what you mean by tainted. I do not accept
that there has been a delay in any real sense, and what is concerning me, rather, is that
questions like that may, in fact, plant the seed that is not already planted. The inquiry will
continue. It will continue before a person of high integrity, considerable judicial standing,
and anybody who thinks that he is tainted, and hence the report is tainted, really is not
looking at the facts, and I would not accept the proposition of taint at all.

Mr WATKINS: You do not think that the controversy surrounding the hearing
of this matter has in any way damaged its status?

Mr O'KEEFE: I do not.

Mr O'FARRELL: How many inquiries have you conducted during your term as
Commissioner? A rough answer will be fine.

Mr O'KEEFE: A dozen.

Mr O'FARRELL: How many Assistant Commissioners have been appointed
over that period?

Mr O'KEEFE: Maybe 10.
Mr O'FARRELL: Would you accept that that is probably fewer than was

appointed under Commissioner Temby?
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Mr O'KEEFE: I think that is right, actually. Remember I have got 15 months or
16 months to go and we would be comparing five years with three-and-a-bit years.

Mr O'FARRELL: I suppose | am wondering why with inquiries like the Langton
inquiry, flowing into the Gibson inquiry, you felt it necessary that you as Commissioner
should conduct those inquiries rather than perhaps have an Assistant Commissioner do
one or the other?

Mr O'KEEFE: Do you want a very frank answer, Mr O'Farrell? It is inevitable
when you are dealing with politicians and inquiring into their behaviour that there will
be aresponse, generally aggressive, always public, generally personalised, directed at the
person hearing the matter. That is an unfair thing to do to somebody who you bring in for
a particular matter unless you cannot avoid that. Secondly, inquiries involving Members
of Parliament are, in the view of the Commission and in my view, serious matters. Of
their very nature they are serious that somebody would make an allegation of corruption
against one of our rulers. That means that the Commuission should respond by putting its
best foot forward, and the Commissioner should be that best foot.

Fourthly, if you were to appoint somebody else it would be very easy for those
who were on the sidelines and anxious to damage the Commission to allege that the
Commissioner was squibbing it, not doing what he should be doing. If you hear it under
one approach you are damned and if you do not hear i